
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA  

____________________________________ 
      )   
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION, ) 
999 E Street N.W.    ) Civ. No. 
Washington D.C.  20463,   ) 
      ) 
  Plaintiff,    ) 
      ) 

v.  ) COMPLAINT  
      )   
JAMIE JACOB MORGAN,   )   
28 Oriole Road    )  
Pontiac, MI 48341,    ) 
      ) 
  Defendant.     ) 
____________________________________) 
 
   

COMPLAINT 
 
 1. This is an action for declaratory, injunctive and other appropriate relief brought 

by the plaintiff Federal Election Commission (the “Commission” or “FEC”) pursuant to the 

express authority granted to the FEC by the Federal Election Campaign Act, as amended 

(codified at 2 U.S.C. §§ 431-455), against defendant Jamie Jacob Morgan for his failure to 

comply with the terms of a conciliation agreement entered into with the Commission wherein 

Morgan admitted to knowing and willful violations of the Act and agreed to pay a civil penalty 

of $60,000. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 
 
 2. This Court has jurisdiction over this suit pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1345 as an action 

brought by an agency of the United States expressly authorized to sue by an act of Congress, 

see 2 U.S.C. §§ 437d(a)(6) and 437g(a)(5)(D). 



 3. The parties stipulated to venue in this Court in the conciliation agreement.  See In 

the Matter of Jamie Jacob Morgan, Matter Under Review 5358, Conciliation Agreement ¶ VII 

(attached as Exhibit 1).   Venue is also properly found in the District of Columbia pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1395(a) because the civil penalty accrues here, and pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) 

because a substantial part of the acts and omissions giving rise to the claims in this action, 

namely the negotiation and execution of the conciliation agreement, occurred in this district. 

PARTIES 
 

4. Plaintiff FEC is the independent agency of the United States government with 

exclusive jurisdiction over the administration, interpretation, and civil enforcement of the Act.  

See generally 2 U.S.C. §§ 437c(b)(1), 437d(a), & 437g.  The Commission is authorized to 

institute investigations of possible violations of the Act, 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(1) and (2), and to 

enter into conciliation agreements to correct or prevent violations of the Act, 2 U.S.C. 

§ 437g(a)(4)(A)(i). The Commission is also authorized to institute civil actions to enforce 

conciliation agreements, 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(5)(D). 

5. Defendant Jamie Jacob Morgan was a candidate for the Republican nomination in 

Michigan’s 12th Congressional District during the 2002 election cycle and the de facto treasurer 

of the Morgan for Congress committee, defendant’s principal campaign committee within the 

meaning of 2 U.S.C. § 431(4)-(5).  Exh. 1 ¶¶ IV.1 – IV.4. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

6.  The Act and Commission regulations require political committee treasurers to 

file periodic reports of the committee’s receipts and disbursements with the Commission for 

disclosure to the public.  2 U.S.C. §§ 434(a)(1) and (2)(A), 434(b)(2) and (b)(4); 11 CFR 

§ 104.3(b). 
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7. On April 20, 2007, the Commission executed a conciliation agreement with 

Defendant, pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(4)(A)(i), wherein he admitted to certain violations of 

the Act and Commission regulations and agreed to pay a $60,000 civil penalty to the 

Commission (id. ¶ VI). 

8. As Defendant admitted in the conciliation agreement, he filed several disclosure 

reports with the Commission that contained many inflated and fictitious receipts and 

disbursements and other inaccuracies.  Over $100,000 of the receipts he reported — more than 

half of the total reported — were fictitious.  Exh. 1 ¶ IV.5.  Almost $190,000 of the 

approximately $250,000 in total disbursements he reported were wholly fictitious.  Id. ¶ IV.9.  

Defendant deliberately concealed $62,000 in contributions from his father to his campaign 

committee by portraying them as contributions from himself.  Id. ¶¶ IV.22 – IV.29.  Later, he 

deliberately commingled campaign funds with his personal funds.  Id. ¶¶ IV.33 – IV.39.  Morgan 

understood that these actions were in violation of the Act and the Commission’s regulations.  Id. 

¶¶ IV.15 – IV.16, IV.27, IV.35, IV.38.   

9. As Defendant also admitted in the conciliation agreement, the actions described 

supra ¶ 8 constituted knowing and willful violations of:  2 U.S.C. § 434(b) (reporting 

requirements); 2 U.S.C. § 441a(f) (accepting excessive contributions); 2 U.S.C. § 441f 

(accepting contributions in the name of another); 2 U.S.C. § 432(b)(3) (commingling campaign 

funds with personal funds); and 11 C.F.R. § 102.3 (falsely terminating the Morgan for Congress 

committee).  Exh. 1 ¶ V.  Defendant also failed to report additional campaign receipts and 

disbursements in violation of 2 U.S.C. § 434(b) and failed to keep and maintain campaign 

records in violation of 2 U.S.C. §§ 432(c) and (d) and 11 C.F.R. § 104.14(b).  Id. 
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10. According to the terms of the conciliation agreement, Morgan was to make three 

$20,000 installment payments to the Commission within 30, 60, and 90 days from the date the 

conciliation agreement became effective.  Exh. 1 ¶ VI.  The conciliation agreement became 

effective after all parties had signed it on April 20.  Id. ¶ VIII.  The first $20,000 installment was 

thus due from the defendant on May 20, 2007, and the final $20,000 installment was due on July 

20, 2007. 

11. Defendant has not paid any part of the civil penalty. 

12. The Commission made a number of requests that Morgan cure his default, 

including sending a letter that he received on September 4, 2007.  Morgan did not respond to 

these requests. 

13. The conciliation agreement provides (Exh. 1 ¶ VII) that the Commission may 

institute a civil action in this Court if the Commission believes that the agreement or any part of 

it has been violated.   

REQUEST FOR RELIEF 
 
 Wherefore, plaintiff Federal Election Commission requests that this Court: 

A. Declare that Jamie Jacob Morgan has violated provisions of the conciliation 

agreement that he entered into with the Commission; 

B. Order Jamie Jacob Morgan to comply fully with the terms of the conciliation 

agreement by paying in full the $60,000 civil penalty; 

C. Permanently enjoin defendant from future violations of the provisions of the 

conciliation agreement; 

D. Award the FEC interest on the amount due until the civil penalty is paid in full; 

and 
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